#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1885

JAMES EUGENE HUNTER,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Eric C. Pinkard
Florida Bar No. 0651443
Assistant CCRC-Middle
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 6, 1992 Mr. Hunter was charged by indictment with one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder, one count of attempted armed robbery, and three counts of armed robbery (R. 46-49). The case proceeded to jury trial on August 2, 1993 and concluded on August 6, 1993, with the jury returning verdicts of guilty on August 6, 1993 as charged to all eight counts (R. 291-301). After a penalty phase proceeding held on August 13, 1993, the jury recommended by a vote of nine to three that Mr. Hunter receive the death penalty for the first degree murder (R. 776). In its sentencing order, the trial court found two aggravators: prior violent felony conviction and capital felony committed during a robbery (R. 826-842). No statutory mitigating circumstances were found however, the court did find ten non-statutory mitigating factors: 1) fetal alcohol syndrome; 2) separation from siblings; 3) lack of mothering nurturing and bonding; 4) physical abuse; 5) emotional abuse and neglect; 6) unstable environment; 7) violent environment; 8) lack of positive role model; 9) death of adoptive mother; and 10) narcissistic personality disorder Id.

Mr. Hunter filed a direct appeal of his judgments and sentences raising fourteen claims. This court affirmed Mr. Hunter's judgment and death sentence on

June 1, 1995. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995). A petition for certiorari with the United States Supreme Court was denied. <u>Hunter v. Florida</u>, 516 U.S. 1128, 116 S.Ct. 946, 133 L.Ed. 2d 871 (1996).

Mr. Hunter filed his second amended 3.850 motion on November 10, 1999 (PC-R 1262). A hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) was held on May 3, 1999 (PC-R 1-47). On January 25, 2000 the trial court entered an order setting claims I, VI, XII, and XIII for an evidentiary hearing, and denying the remaining claims (PC-R 1817). On April 5, 2000, the evidentiary hearing was held (PC-R 95). On May 3, 2000, Mr. Hunter filed his written closing argument and memorandum of law (PC-R 1857). On My 15, 2000, the state filed its written closing argument (PC-R 1875). Thereafter, on July 25, 2000, the lower court denied all claims raised in Mr. Hunters 3.850 motion (PC-R 1883). Mr. Hunter filed a timely notice of appeal of the denial of his 3.850 motion on August 24, 2000 (PC-R 1952).

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 5, 2000 on claims I, VI, XII and XIII of Mr. Hunters' 3.850 motion (PC-R 95-227). Claim I alleged that Mr. Hunter was deprived of his right to a reliable adversarial testing due to ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of his capital trial, the state's failure to

disclose critical exculpatory evidence which was never presented to the jury, and highly prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct, all in violation of Mr. Hunter's rights to due process and equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States constitution, as well as his rights under the Fifth, Sixth and Eighth Amendments. The claim was asserted in sub parts alleging a) counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the states case: b) counsel was ineffective for failing to move for an immediate Richardson hearing by the trial court due to the untimely and disguised disclosure by the state of photographs (PC-R 1176-1193).

Claim VI alleged that newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr.

Hunter's capital sentencing conviction and sentence are constitutionally unreliable and in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment (PC-R 1226, 1227).

Claim XII alleged that Mr. Hunter was denied a fair trial due to an actual conflict of interest by the Office of the Public Defender (PC-R 1245-1257).

Claim XIII alleged that counsel was ineffective for failing to file pre-trial motions challenging the identification of Mr. Hunter by witnesses Michael Howard and Taurus Cooley in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution (PC-R 1258-1260).

## **EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

#### A. TESTIMONY OF GEORGE BURDEN

George Burden testified that he was the lead attorney on Mr. Hunters case and was employed by the Office of the Public Defender during the entirety of his representation (PC-R 120). He stated that one of the theories of defense was that Mr. Hunter was not the shooter (PC-R 121). He was aware of the various statements of different witnesses regarding the different clothing that each participant in the shooting was wearing (PC-R 121). He was aware that witnesses Taurus Cooley and Michael Howard had described the shooter as having on red clothing (PC-R 122). He also stated that all the witnesses stated that there was only one shooter (PC-R 122). He made a demand for discovery in the case (PC-R 122). He testified that he became aware of color photographs taken of the four suspects James Hunter, Eric Boyd, Charles Anderson and Bruce Pope taken by Officer Mclean on the evening of the shooting only during the testimony of the last state witness during the jury trial (PC-R 125). He stated that these photographs had not previously been disclosed until the trial of Mr. Hunter (PC-R 125). He stated that during a deposition of witness Donald Clark on July 8, 1993 in another case that he may have been given a copy of some "show up" folders with photographs but it was not clear to him that the photographs within the "show up"

folders were taken by Officer Mclean on the evening of the shooting and depicted the clothing each suspect was wearing on the evening of the shooting. (PC-R 127). Between the time of the deposition of Donald Clark and the trial of Mr. Hunter which began on August 2, 1993, Mr. Burden did not take any steps to ascertain when the photographs were taken and by whom (PC-R 128). He stated that nothing on the "show up" folders indicated the date that the pictures were taken (PC-R 129). He stated that one of the show up folders had a picture of Eric Boyd wearing a red shirt (PC-R 130). Mr. Burden was then asked as to the significance of a photograph depicting Eric Boyd wearing a red shirt on the evening of the shootings and he stated:

Q. What would be the significance, in your mind, sir, of seeing a color photograph of Mr. Boyd depicting a red shirt, taken by Officer Mclean on the night of the shooting?

A. To me the relevance of that would be for the purposes of the jury, that they would see that the person wearing the clothing color described by all the witnesses as being the sole shooter was not Mr. Hunter, but was Mr. Boyd, because he is wearing the red shirt that they all, I believe, mostly agree was the color of the shirt the shooter was wearing.

# Q. All right sir.

A. I would like to further state that they are cousins and it's not that they look dissimilar, either. They are related.

(PC-R 131).

Mr. Burden further stated that the "Show up" folder photograph of Mr. Hunter, taken by Officer Mclean on the evening of the shooting, showed him to be wearing a white shirt. (PC-R 132). He stated that none of the witnesses testified that the shooter wore a white shirt (PC-R 132). He said that he did not become aware that there was a color photograph of Eric Boyd showing that he wore a red shirt on the evening of the shooting until the last state witness was called and a motion for mistrial was held (PC-R 134). Even after Mr. Burden became aware of the existence of the photograph depicting Mr. Boyd wearing red clothing, he did not introduce it into evidence or use it in Mr. Hunters case in any fashion (PC-R 135).

Mr. Burden also testified that he recalled the testimony of state witness

Taurus Cooley who was a listed victim as to the charges of robbery and attempted murder (PC-R 136). Mr. Cooley was an eyewitness in the case and was himself shot during the incident (PC-R 136). He claimed that he was not aware of any recent or pending charges against Mr. Cooley at the time he testified at Mr.

Hunter's trial (PC-R 138). He claimed he was unaware that on March 24<sup>th</sup>, 1992

Mr. Cooley was arrested by the Daytona Beach Police Department on charges of fraudulent use of a credit card and possession of cocaine (PC-R 138). He claimed he was unaware that on April 22, 1992 the Office of the Public Defender of

Volusia County was appointed to represent Mr. Cooley on felony charges of credit card fraud and possession of cocaine (PC-R 139, 140). When asked whether he was aware of the Public Defenders Office representation of Mr. Cooley he stated:

A. I don't recall. I honestly don't recall. I just want to make a statement that the facts that you disclosed that the office had withdrawn from him on the cases he had because of this case, that perhaps it was something that did come to my attention. That - - I don't know. It's now - - I'm just thinking how the dynamics worked at the time. I don't have a direct recollection, but, if that happened, someone would have told me. I just cant believe that wouldn't have been told to me.

(PC-R 140).

Mr. Burden claimed he was unaware that on May 11<sup>th</sup> of 1993 Mr. Cooley pled no contest to fraudulent use of credit card and possession of cocaine and received three years probation(PC-R 141). He claimed he was further unaware that in misdemeanor case 92-41177 Mr. Cooley was arrested and charged with the crime of battery and that the office of the Public Defender in Volusia County was appointed to represent him on that charge on September 9<sup>th</sup>, 1992 (PC-R 141). He claimed he was unaware that Mr. Cooley served 15 days in jail on that charge on July 19<sup>th</sup>, 1993 (PC-R 141). He claimed he was unaware that Mr. Cooley was arrested by the Daytona Beach Police Department for a possession of cannabis which occurred on January 28, 1991 (PC-R 141). He claimed was unaware that the

Office of the Public Defender for Volusia County represented Mr. Cooley on those charges and that Mr. Cooley received 15 days in jail for contempt of court on the case on May 15, 1993 (PC-R 142).

Counsel Burden further stated that he never cross examined Mr. Cooley concerning those recent and pending charges at Mr. Hunter's trial and that his decision not to do so was not strategic (PC-R 142). He also never questioned Mr. Cooley concerning his prior criminal history during his deposition which was taken on April 5, 1993 (PC-R 142). He further never told Mr. Hunter or the court that the Office of the Public Defender represented state witness/victim Taurus Cooley (PC-R 144). He had made a specific discovery demand upon the Office of the State Attorney requesting criminal background history of all state witnesses and was never provided any information concerning the criminal background of Taurus Cooley (PC-R 146). He claimed that had he been aware of Mr. Cooley's prior criminal history that he would have used it in cross examination (PC-R 165, 166, ).

#### B. TESTIMONY OF ELIZABETH BLACKBURN-GARDNER

Ms. Blackburn testified that she was the lead prosecutor on Mr. Hunter's case (PC-R 170). She was responsible for responding to discovery requests (PC-R 170). She stated that she disclosed the show up photographs to Mr. Burden at the deposition of Donald Clark (PC-R 171). She had no explanation as to why the show

up photographs had not been shown to defense counsel before the July 8, 1993 deposition of Donald Clark (PC-R 174). She said the photographs taken by Mclean were shown to defense counsel in the form of "show up" folders (PC-R 174). She didn't recall ever informing Mr. Burden that the color photographs of James Hunter, Eric Boyd, Charles Anderson and Bruce Pope contained in the "show up" folders were taken by Mclean on the evening of the shooting (PC-R 175). The "show up" folders themselves did not have a date on them as to when the photographs were taken (PC-R 177).

Ms. Blackburn did not recall that witness/victim Taurus Cooley had any criminal history (PC-R 179). She did not recall that the Office of The Public Defender had been appointed to represent Mr. Cooley on his criminal charges (PC-R 180). She characterized Mr. Cooley as an important witness in the case (PC-R 181).

#### C. TESTIMONY OF CARLOS MCLEAN

Mr. Mclean was employed with the Deland Police Department (PC-R 202). On the evening of the shooting he responded to a BOLO detention which had been done by a Richard Graves of the Volusia County Sheriffs Office (PC-R 204). He transported the four defendants to the Deland Police Department (PC-R 204). He then took color photographs of all the suspects (PC-R 111). A day or two later

officer Flynt from the Daytona Beach Police Department came to the station and took the photographs (PC-R 205). The color photographs depicted the clothing that each was wearing (PC-R 208).

#### D. TESTIMONY OF JIMMIE FLYNT

Mr. Flynt is a sergeant with the Daytona Beach Police Department (PC-R 233). He participated in investigating the homicide in Mr. Hunter's case (PC-R 234). He went to the Deland Police Department to pick up color photographs from Mclean (PC-R 235). He then used the photographs to compile photo line ups (PC-R 236). He made four sets of the "show up" folders, each with one of the suspects along with five other pictures (PC-R 238). He never showed any of the "show up" folders to any witness in the case (PC-R 238). His reason for not showing them was that the surviving victims/witnesses were unsure if they could identify anybody (PC-R 239) (emphasis added). He brought the "show up" folders to the deposition of Donald Clark at the request of prosecutor Blackburn (PC-R 248). A copy of the photographs was then made and given to counsel for Mr. Hunter George Burden (PC-R- 248). He stated that prior to the deposition of Donald Clark he had never made the Office of the State Attorney aware of the existence of the photographs (PC-R 252).

#### E. TESTIMONY OF TAURUS COOLEY

Mr. Cooley stated that he recalled testifying in Mr. Hunter's case and that he was a victim in the case (PC-R. 263). He stated that the person that shot him had on red clothing(PC-R 264). It was dark the night of the shooting(PC-R 265).

He admitted that he had been charged in 1992 with credit card fraud and possession of cocaine, and he pled no contest to the charges on May 11<sup>th</sup> of 1993 and was placed on three years probation, and that he was represented by the Office of the Public Defender for Volusia County on the charges (PC-R 280,281). He also admitted to being arrested for the offense of battery in May of 1992, and being represented by the Volusia County Public Defenders Office (PC-R 281). He was sentenced to seventeen days in jail on that charge on July 19<sup>th</sup>, 1993 (PC-R 281). He also admitted to being charged with possession of marijuana on July 28, 1992 and being held in contempt of court and sentenced to 15 days in jail on May 15<sup>th</sup>, 1993 (PC-R 282). The Office of the Public Defender for Volusia County also represented him on that charge (PC-R 283).

#### F. TESTIMONY OF MELANIE ANDERSON

Melanie Anderson is employed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court as a project specialist (PC-R 107). She was the trial clerk on the Hunter case (PC-R 107). She produced four case files on Taurus Cooley (PC-R 108). They were

felony case 92-31321, and misdemeanor cases 92-41137, 92-41137, and 90-58257 (PC-R 108). Certified copies of the entire files were introduced into evidence at the evidentiary hearing (PC-R 109).

She also testified that the four "show up" folders previously introduced at the trial as state's exhibits BB, CC, DD, and EE were introduced as evidence at the motion for mistrial made by counsel Burden at the conclusion of the state's case at Mr. Hunter's trial (PC-R 114).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&#</sup>x27;(For purposes of clarification these are the four manilla folders which contain six photographs each in mug shot form which are included in the PC-R and ROA as exhibits each folder contains one photograph of the four suspects James Hunter, Charles Anderson, Eric Boyd, and Bruce Pope (along with photo's of five other individuals unrelated to the case): these are the color photographs taken by Mclean of the Deland Police Department on the evening of the shooting and were turned over to Sergeant Flynt of the Daytona Beach Police Department who ultimately compiled the "show up" folders. These are also the "show up" folders which were allegedly given to counsel Burden at the deposition of Donald Clarke. The basis form of each folder is a manilla folder with six cut out squares where each photograph is then taped or stapled. The idea is for the closed folder to be shown to a witness for purposes of identification).

#### G. TESTIMONY OF JAMES HUNTER

Mr. Hunter testified that he informed counsel Burden about the existence of the color photographs that depicted the clothing of each suspect at the beginning of the case and asked him to use them in his defense (PC-R 319). He also stated that counsel Burden never showed him the "show up" folders at any time prior to the trial of his case (PC-R 321). He also stated that he was never informed that the Office of the Public Defender represented Taurus Cooley (PC-R 322).

#### H. THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER

The lower court denied all relief after the evidentiary hearing (PC-R 1883-1950). In addressing the ineffective assistance of counsel claim concerning the failure of counsel to use the color photographs taken by McLean on the night of the shooting which depicted the clothing worn by each suspect the court stated:

Defendant claims that the state played a "shell game" with the lineup photo's taken by investigator McLean. He also claims that if postconviction counsel had not discovered these photographs, the issue of the photo's would be a mere illusion. The Court finds that this claim if more properly considered as a *Brady* violation claim rather than an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. It was shown at the evidentiary hearing that the photos' referred to in Defendant's motion are the mug show up folder's taken by Investigator McLean. The Florida Supreme Court held that these lineup photo's were disclosed to defense counsel at a deposition where such photographs were presented and counsel not only had the opportunity to examine the photos, but also received a

photocopy of the lineup photos. <u>Hunter</u>, 660 So. 2d at 250-51/ Therefore, the Defendant's claim of a *Brady* violation is barred by the law of the case doctrine as an issue that was raised and rejected on direct appeal. <u>See</u>, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3,850(c); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 206, 207 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u> 506 U.S. 839, 113 S. Ct. 119, 121 L.Ed. 2d 75 (!992) <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

Defendant claims that had counsel requested a Richardson hearing and a continuance to re-depose key State witnesses with these lineup photos, after disclosure of the photos at the July 8, 1993 deposition, which was eight months after the State had such photos, there is a reasonable probability that it would have changed the outcome by providing the jury with a clear identity issue. This Court finds that there is not areasonable probability that the use of these photos by counsel would have changed the outcome of the trial. In Defendant's 3.850 motion, he alleged that Taurus Cooley, one of the witnesses who identified him at trial as the shooter, had recanted that identification and would testify that codefendant Boyd was the shooter. Cooley testified at the evidentiary hearing on Defendant's 3.850 motion that he did not make an identification of Boyd as the shooter from the lineup photos when shown to him by a CCRC representative. Further, at trial, the uncontroverted evidence was that the shooter was wearing a red shirt and while, at the time of arrest minutes after the shooting, Defendant was wearing a white shirt. See, Transcripts, pp. 794-95; 800-02 (Pope's testimony), attached hereto as Appendix A. Defense counsel argued these facts extensively during closing argument, including the fact that Deputy Graves field interview cards also showed the Defendant wearing a white shirt at the time of arrest. See Transcripts, pp 1037-40; 1045-50; 1053; 1055-56' 1096-1100; 1102-03; 1105-06, attached hereto as Appendix B. Thus the use of these color photos would have been

cumulative evidence not reasonably likely to produce a different outcome. <u>See</u> 90.403, Fla. Stat. (!991); <u>See</u> also Charles W. Ehrhardt, <u>Florida Evidence</u> 403.1 at 147 & fn.1 (2000).

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