## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES E. HUNTER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-1885

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 Fax # (904) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

The test has nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have done. Nor is the test even what most good lawyers would have done. We ask only whether some reasonable lawyer at the trial could have acted, in the circumstances, as defense counsel acted at trial.... We are not interested in grading lawyers' performances; we are interested in whether the adversarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately.

White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1220-21 (11th Cir. 1992).

Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506, 1511-12 (11th Cir. 1995). When that standard is applied in this case, there is no basis for relief because, as the trial court found, the testimony at trial was that, at the time of the arrests, Hunter was wearing a **white** shirt, and co-defendant Boyd was wearing a **red** shirt. (R1887). As the trial

court found,

this argument merely restates the argument that these photos would have presented a better identity issue to the jury. As demonstrated by defense counsel's closing argument, the jury was presented with this exact issue, i.e., that Defendant was wearing a white shirt while the shooter was wearing a red shirt.

(R1887)<sup>6</sup>. Because the issue advanced by Hunter was squarely placed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Hunter and the others were not contacted by law enforcement until some time after the shooting that gave rise to this case.

before the jury, the most that the present argument does is suggest that current counsel would (or might) have tried the case differently -- that is not the legal standard, and such after-thefact second-guessing is exactly the practice that is precluded by *Strickland*. The lower court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

In his brief, Hunter alleges, for the first time, that "in failing to utilize the photographs [he was] also prejudiced [] in the penalty phase." *Initial Brief* at 50. This claim was not contained in Hunter's Rule 3.850 motion, was not in some fashion alleged orally, and, consequently, is not properly before this Court. The law is well-settled that claims cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). Hunter's criticisms of the trial court for "failing to address" claims that were never placed before it are baseless. This component of this claim is not before this Court, and, therefore, is not a basis for relief.<sup>7</sup>

To the extent that Hunter's briefing of this claim includes an undercurrent concerning the claimed "alterations" made to certain

#### Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d at 246-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Hunter's brief contains comments to the effect that the showup folders were not shown to the surviving victims because they had indicated that they could not "make an identification." (Check R239). How this claim is helpful to Hunter is not developed -moreover, this "claim" (if that is what it is) has been raised for the first time on appeal. For that reason, it is not properly before this Court.

photographs, the trial court found:

Defendant claims that counsel should have questioned regarding why his Detective Flynt (defendant's) photograph was removed from State's Exhibit CC (mug showup folder) and placed into State's Exhibit BB (mug showup folder) between the July 8, 1993 deposition and trial. However, Defendant has not specifically shown prejudice as to the different arrangement of his photo. Further, Detective Flynt, who made the lineup photo folders, testified, at the evidentiary hearing, that he had no explanation why the Defendant's photos were rearranged within the folders between the July 8th deposition and trial, he did not place two pictures of the Defendant in one folder on purpose; it was an oversight, and the lineup photo folders were not fastened or stapled closed and were placed in the evidence room at some point before trial. The [Defendant] has not alleged, nor shown, how this proposed questioning would have changed the outcome of his trial. Thus, this claim is legally insufficient.

(R1888). Those findings of fact are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed. The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

### III. THE PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 53-55 of his brief, Hunter argues that he is entitled to relief based upon what he describes as "inflammatory and improper comments" by the prosecutor. This claim was raised in Hunter's Rule 3.850 motion in Claims II(c) and VIII. The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on both claims, and that ruling should be affirmed.

To the extent that the claim contained in Hunter's brief is a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial court denied relief on that claim. Specifically, Hunter asserted that trial counsel should have objected and moved for a mistrial when the prosecutor referred to him as a vulture and a predator in opening statement.<sup>8</sup> The trial court denied relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, stating:

... The burden is on Defendant to make at least a prima facie showing that individually or cumulatively this "evidence" would have, within a reasonable probability, changed the outcome of his trial. [citation omitted]. Initially, the Court finds that although the prosecutor's comments may have bordered on improper, they are distinguishable from those made in Ross [v. State, 726 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998)] and Hunter has failed to meet his burden in showing that either individually or cumulatively the un-objected comments were so "sinister" as to undermine the confidence in the outcome of his trial. [citation omitted].

(R1822). There is no basis for relief based upon this claim because, even if it was improper to refer to Hunter as a "vulture and predator", that isolated comment is not a basis for relief because the standard is "Whether the error was so prejudicial as to 'vitiate the entire trial.' *State v. Murray*, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984)." *Reaves v. State*, 639 So. 2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1994); *See also, Pacifico v. State*, 642 So. 2d 1178, 1183 (1st DCA 1994) ("Despite the impropriety of such references, prosecutorial 'name-calling' will result in reversal only if the vituperative comments become such a feature of the trial that the accused's right to a fair trial is prejudiced."); *Craig v. State*, 510 So. 2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987) reference to defendant as a liar not basis for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>According to Hunter's argument, the complained-of comments were made once.

reversal); Maldonado v. State, 697 So. 2d 1284 (5DCA 1997) (reference to defendant as coward not basis for reversal). Under the facts of this case, which clearly establish that Hunter was searching out victims to rob, and because of the very limited comment at issue, there is no basis upon which to premise any relief. The absence of an objection to such a statement does not amount to deficient performance on the part of trial counsel, and, moreover, Hunter suffered no prejudice. The trial court's denial of relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel component of this claim should not be disturbed.

Likewise, the substantive claim is not a basis for relief. As the trial court found, that claim is procedurally barred from review because it could have been but was not raised at trial and on direct appeal. (R1827). That is a procedural bar under settled Florida law. The denial of relief should not be disturbed.

#### IV. THE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIMS<sup>9</sup>

On pages 56-66 of his brief, Hunter raises three separate claims concerning the jury instructions given during his capital trial. The collateral proceeding trial court found these claims to be procedurally barred<sup>10</sup> and, in the alternative, meritless. That

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>This issue was pleaded as Claim III in Hunter's Rule 3.850 motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>At no point in his brief does Hunter acknowledge the procedural bars to litigation of these claims, nor does he attempt to argue that the procedural bars were erroneously found. Instead, Hunter has completely ignored the reasons for the denial of relief

result is correct for the following reasons.

Hunter's first claim is that the lower court erred in denying relief on his claim that the jury instructions "shifted the burden of proof" to Hunter to "prove death was inappropriate." The collateral proceeding trial court found this claim to be procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial and on direct appeal. (R1822). That is a procedural bar under settled Florida law. *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.850(c). The trial court found, in the alternative, that the jury was properly instructed, and that the burden of proof was not shifted. (R1823). This claim is not a basis for relief, and the lower court should be affirmed.

The second jury instruction claim contained in Hunter's brief is the argument that the jury instructions "unconstitutionally diluted" the jury's "sense of responsibility in determining the proper sentence." No record citations are provided, nor does Hunter provide any citation to authority supporting his claim of error. The lower court found this claim to be procedurally barred because it was not preserved at trial, a ruling which accurately reflects this Court's direct appeal decision. (R1823); *Hunter v. State*, 660 So. 2d at 253. Moreover, as the lower court found, this claim is meritless. (R1823).

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, "this

on this claim.

Court repeatedly has held that *Caldwell* errors cannot be raised on collateral review." *Owen v. State*, 773 So. 2d 510, 515 n. 11 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, as this Court has held:

... Brown argues that the standard jury instruction in capital cases denigrates the jury's true role in sentencing in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). This Court has held that the standard jury instruction fully advises the jury of the importance of its role, correctly states the law, see Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1121, 118 S.Ct. 1063, 140 L.Ed.2d 123 (1998), and does not denigrate the role of the jury. See Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995); Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-56 (Fla. 1988) (rejecting argument and holding *Caldwell* inapplicable to death penalty cases in Florida); Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988) (holding same), receded from on other grounds by Franqui v. State, 699 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 1997), 523 U.S. 1040, 118 S.Ct. 1337, 140 L.Ed.2d 499 (1998), and cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1097, 118 S.Ct. 1582, 140 L.Ed.2d 796 (1998). Accordingly, we find this claim to be without merit.

Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 283 (Fla. 1998). This claim would not be a basis for relief even if it was not procedurally barred.

The third jury instruction claim contained in Hunter's brief is his claim that the instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator "created harmful error when viewed as to its cumulative effect." The lower court found that this claim was inappropriate for collateral attack, and, further, that the claim was procedurally barred because it had been raised and decided aversely to Hunter on direct appeal. (R1824). This claim is procedurally barred under settled Florida law.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is

necessary, Hunter predicates this claim on the false premise that the sufficiency of the instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator was not addressed by this Court. That is not the true posture of this case. This Court held:

Hunter's constitutional challenge aimed at the cold, calculated, and premeditated circumstance and the form it takes as a jury instruction, which he claims is "too vague to provide the constitutionally required guidance" is also without merit. We have previously rejected a claim that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. See Klokoc v. State, 589 So. 2d 219, 222 (Fla. 1991).

In Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 1994), this Court declared unconstitutionally vague a standard instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated factor that told the jury it could consider, if established by the evidence, that "the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without a[ny] pretense of moral or legal justification." In this case, the trial judge gave the following expanded instruction on cold, calculated, and premeditated:

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following and you may not consider any other aggravating circumstances.

• • • •

Four, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral or legal justification.

• • • •

Simple premeditation of the type necessary to support a conviction for First Degree Murder is not sufficient to sustain a finding that this killing was committed in a cold, calculated or premeditated manner. What is required is a heightened form of premeditation which can be demonstrated by the manner of the killing. The premeditation of the Robbery cannot be transferred to the murder. Cold means totally without emotion or passion. Calculated means the defendant formed the decision to kill in sufficient time in advance of the killing to plan and contemplate.

We hold that this instruction was not "so vague as to leave the sentencer without sufficient guidance for determining the presence or absence of the factor." See Espinosa v. Florida, --- U.S. ----, ---, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 2928, 120 L.Ed.2d 854, 858 (1992).

Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d at 253-54. This claim is not a basis for relief, and the trial court should be affirmed in all respects<sup>11</sup>.

# V. THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL SENTENCING STATUTE CLAIM

On pages 67-68 of his brief, Hunter argues that the Florida capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied.<sup>12</sup> The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim, finding it to be procedurally barred because it was raised and decided adversely to Hunter on direct appeal. (R1826). Hunter's *Initial Brief* raises four identifiable challenges to the sentencing statute: 1. no standard is provided for determining that aggravators outweigh mitigators; 2. aggravators are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The claim relating to the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator does not appear to be precisely the same claim as the one raised in the trial court. To that extent, it is not properly before this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Once again, Hunter has wholly ignored the procedural bars.

sufficiently defined; 3. the "independent reweighing process" envisioned in *Proffitt v. Florida* is not present; and 4. the statute creates a presumption of death when only one aggravator applies. Of those identifiable claims, sub-claim 1 was not raised on appeal, and is therefore procedurally barred. Sub-claim 2 was likewise not raised on direct appeal -- it too is procedurally barred. Sub-claim 3 was raised and decided on direct appeal and cannot be relitigated in this collateral proceeding. *Hunter v. State*, 660 So. 2d at 253. Sub-claim 4 appears to have been raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court on the alternative grounds of procedural bar and lack of merit.<sup>13</sup>

In the alternative, the trial court found this claim meritless. Those findings are in compliance with well-settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed. *Hunter v. State, supra*.

## VI. THE MENTAL STATE EXPERT/ COMPETENCY HEARING CLAIM

We find a number of the other challenges to be procedurally barred because they have not been properly preserved for appeal and, even if preserved, they have been rejected in *Fotopoulos v. State*, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 n. 7 (Fla. 1992), *cert. denied*, --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 2377, 124 L.Ed.2d 282 (1993). These include challenges numbered . . . (15), and ....

Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d at 253.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This sub-claim was apparently sub-claim 15 of Hunter's thirteenth issue on appeal. This court held:

On pages 69-72 of his brief, Hunter complains that the lower court erred in denying his claim for relief based upon the competency proceedings that were conducted pre-trial. The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim, finding that it was procedurally barred because it was raised and decided on direct appeal. (R1825). That denial of relief is in accord with settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, this Court's direct appeal opinion is dispositive:

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